# International Precedents and Comparative Law on Judicial Torture and CIDT: An IAJ review

#### **Executive Summary**

Today, 'judicial torture' properly covers (i) judicially ordered corporal punishment; (ii) court-process-linked torture/CIDT¹; (iii) state acquiescence in private violence connected to proceedings. Judicial acquiescence to torture is tantamount to torture. This analysis examines international precedents and comparative law on judicial torture and cruel, inhuman, or degrading treatment (CIDT) across five critical areas of international legal authority. The research reveals a consistent international consensus that torture prohibition constitutes a *jus cogens* norm of customary international law, establishing absolute and non-derogable obligations for states regardless of exceptional circumstances. The prohibition dates back to the earliest days of the international formulation of human rights standards².

While regional and international judicial bodies have developed sophisticated jurisprudence defining torture and state obligations, significant implementation gaps persist in judicial contexts, particularly regarding procedural safeguards, accountability mechanisms, and effective remedies for victims. U.S. doctrine on torture are sparse, with examples such as *Sosa v. Alvarez-Machain*<sup>3</sup> acknowledging torture as a law-of-nations violation under the ATS; *Filártiga* <sup>4</sup>; exclusionary principles; and the *Medellín* <sup>5</sup>/*Avena* <sup>6</sup> implementation tension.

Key findings demonstrate that international courts and treaty monitoring bodies have established complementary frameworks that collectively strengthen the global prohibition against torture, though enforcement mechanisms vary significantly across jurisdictions. The analysis identifies both convergent principles and critical gaps in ensuring judicial accountability for torture prevention and prosecution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> CIDT: Cruel, Inhuman, or Degrading Treatment or Punishment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms art. 3, Nov. 4, 1950, 213 U.N.T.S. 221 (ECHR)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Sosa v. Alvarez-Machain, 542 U.S. 692, 732 (2004)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Filártiga v. Peña-Irala, 630 F.2d 876 (2d Cir. 1980)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Medellín v. Texas, 552 U.S. 491 (2008)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Avena and Other Mexican Nationals (Mex. v. U.S.), Judgment, 2004 I.C.J. 12 (Mar. 31)

#### Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
1. INTRODUCTION	3
2. EUROPEAN COURT OF HUMAN RIGHTS: ARTICLE 3 ECHR IN JUDICIAL CONTEXTS	3
2.1 FOUNDATIONAL PRINCIPLES AND JURISPRUDENCE	3
2.2 Definitional Framework and Standards	3
2.3 STATE OBLIGATIONS AND PROCEDURAL REQUIREMENTS	4
3. INTERNATIONAL CRIMINAL COURT: TORTURE AS INTERNATIONAL CRIME	4
3.1 Rome Statute Framework and Elements	4
3.2 Precedential Development and Judicial Interpretation	5
4. UN COMMITTEE AGAINST TORTURE: AUTHORITATIVE JURISPRUDENCE	5
4.1 General Comments and Interpretive Authority	5
4.2 State Obligations in Judicial Contexts	6
4.3 Jurisprudence on Judicial Torture	6
5. COMPARATIVE NATIONAL IMPLEMENTATION OF UNCAT IN JUDICIAL CONTEXTS	7
5.1 Common Law African Systems	7
5.2 European and North American Systems	7
5.3 Comparative Judicial Approaches	8
6. International Court of Justice: Treaty Supremacy and State Obligations	8
6.1 Advisory Opinions on Treaty Implementation	8
6.2 Jurisdictional Immunities and jus cogens	9
6.3 Implications for Judicial Torture Prevention	9
7. SYNTHESIS AND COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS	9
7.1 Convergent Principles Across Jurisdictions	9
7.2 Divergences and Implementation Gaps	10
7.3 Evolution of International Jurisprudence	10
8. CRITICAL GAPS AND CHALLENGES	12
8.1 Implementation Deficiencies	12
8.2 Accountability Gans	12

#### 1. Introduction

The absolute prohibition of torture represents one of the most fundamental principles of international human rights law. This comprehensive analysis examines how international judicial bodies, treaty monitoring mechanisms, and national legal systems have developed and implemented precedents regarding judicial torture and CIDT. The research focuses on five specific areas of international legal authority: European Court of Human Rights decisions on judicial misconduct, International Criminal Court precedents on torture, UN Committee Against Torture jurisprudence, comparative national implementation of UNCAT in judicial contexts, and International Court of Justice advisory opinions on treaty supremacy.

The analysis draws upon primary legal sources, authoritative interpretations by international bodies, and comparative studies of domestic implementation to provide a comprehensive understanding of the current state of international law on judicial torture prevention and accountability.

## 2. European Court of Human Rights: Article 3 ECHR in Judicial Contexts

#### 2.1 Foundational Principles and Jurisprudence

The European Court of Human Rights (ECtHR) has developed extensive jurisprudence under Article 3 of the European Convention on Human Rights<sup>7</sup>, which prohibits torture and inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment in absolute terms. The Court has consistently emphasized that this prohibition is absolute and non-derogable, allowing no exceptions even in times of war or public emergency.

#### 2.2 Definitional Framework and Standards

The ECtHR has established a sophisticated definitional framework distinguishing between torture, inhuman treatment, and degrading treatment based on severity and purposive elements. The Court initially distinguished torture from other ill-treatment primarily on severity grounds in landmark cases such as *Ireland v. United Kingdom* <sup>8</sup>, but later re-emphasized the purposive element in *Selmouni v. France* <sup>9</sup>, referencing the UN Convention Against Torture definition. The Court's "living instrument" doctrine allows for the reclassification of acts over time, recognizing that treatment previously classified as "inhuman and degrading treatment" could be classified as torture in the future.

#### **Key Judicial Torture Cases:**

- Rape as Torture: In *Aydin v. Turkey* <sup>10</sup>, the Court established that rape by state agents can constitute torture, setting important precedent for recognizing sexual violence in judicial contexts as torture.
- **Judicially ordered penalties**: In *Tyrer v. United Kingdom* <sup>11</sup>, the Court ruled that judicial corporal punishment constitutes degrading treatment, emphasizing that it constitutes "an assault on precisely

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Guide on Article 3 of the European Convention on Human Rights: Prohibition of torture, European Court of Human Rights (2025) -- https://ks.echr.coe.int/documents/d/echr-ks/guide\_art\_3\_eng

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Ireland v. United Kingdom, App. No. 5310/71, ¶¶ 167–68 (Eur. Ct. H.R. Jan. 18, 1978), <a href="https://hudoc.echr.coe.int/eng?i=001-57506">https://hudoc.echr.coe.int/eng?i=001-57506</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Selmouni v. France [GC], App. No. 25803/94, ¶¶ 101–05 (Eur. Ct. H.R. July 28, 1999), <a href="https://hudoc.echr.coe.int/eng?i=001-58287">https://hudoc.echr.coe.int/eng?i=001-58287</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Aydın v. Turkey, App. No. 23178/94, ¶¶ 83–84 (Eur. Ct. H.R. Sept. 25, 1997), https://hudoc.echr.coe.int/eng?i=001-2438

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Tyrer v. United Kingdom, App. No. 5856/72, ¶¶ 31–33 (Eur. Ct. H.R. Apr. 25, 1978), <a href="https://hudoc.echr.coe.int/eng?i=001-55404">https://hudoc.echr.coe.int/eng?i=001-55404</a>

that which it is one of the main purposes of Article 3 to protect, namely a person's dignity and physical integrity". Contrast with UNCAT where corporal punishment = degrading treatment.

#### 2.3 State Obligations and Procedural Requirements

The ECtHR has established comprehensive state obligations regarding torture prevention in judicial contexts:

- **Positive Duties**: States must protect individuals from torture and CIDT by private actors, particularly vulnerable groups such as children, through legislative measures and intervention when necessary.
- **Duty to Investigate**: States have a positive obligation to conduct effective investigations into allegations of ill-treatment, especially when events are within state knowledge. This duty is independent of formal complaints and extends to ill-treatment by private actors (*Assenov and Others v Bulgaria* <sup>12</sup>; El-Masri v "the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia" [GC]<sup>13</sup>).
- Exclusionary Rule: The Court has firmly established that any evidence obtained through torture cannot be used as proof of guilt, as this would violate both Article 6(1) (right to fair trial) and Article 3, as demonstrated in Jalloh v. Germany <sup>14</sup>.
- Training and Safeguards: Articles 5 and 6 ECHR outline essential procedural safeguards including
  prompt information on arrest, being brought before a judge, legal assistance, and proper medical
  examinations.

#### 3. International Criminal Court: Torture as International Crime

#### 3.1 Rome Statute Framework and Elements

The International Criminal Court has established precise legal standards for torture as both a crime against humanity and a war crime under Articles 7 and 8 of the Rome Statute<sup>15</sup>. The ICC Elements of Crimes<sup>16</sup> provide detailed definitions that have influenced international jurisprudence:

- Article 7(1)(f) Torture as Crime Against Humanity:
  - 1. The perpetrator inflicted severe physical or mental pain or suffering upon one or more persons
  - 2. Such persons were in the custody or under the control of the perpetrator
  - 3. Such pain or suffering did not arise only from, and was not inherent in or incidental to, lawful sanctions
  - 4. The conduct was committed as part of a widespread or systematic attack directed against a civilian population
  - 5. The perpetrator knew the conduct was part of such an attack
- Article 8 Torture as War Crime (both international and non-international armed conflict): The
  elements include severe physical or mental pain or suffering inflicted for specific purposes (obtaining)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Assenov and Others v. Bulgaria (Application no. 90/1997/874/1086) -- <a href="https://policehumanrightsresources.org/assenov-and-others-v-bulgaria-application-no-90-1997-874-1086">https://policehumanrightsresources.org/assenov-and-others-v-bulgaria-application-no-90-1997-874-1086</a>

<sup>13</sup> El-Masri v "The Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia", Application No.39630/09, European Court of Human Rights (2012) -

<sup>-</sup> https://www.amnesty.org/en/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/eur650012012en.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Jalloh v. Germany [GC], App. No. 54810/00, ¶¶ 82, 99–105, 117–22 (Eur. Ct. H.R. July 11, 2006), https://hudoc.echr.coe.int/eng?i=001-76307

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court -- https://www.icc-cpi.int/sites/default/files/2024-05/Rome-Statute-eng.pdf <sup>16</sup> International Criminal Court, Elements of Crimes, ICC-ASP/1/3 (2002) (as amended 2011), <a href="https://www.icc-cpi.int/sites/default/files/Publications/Elements-of-Crimes.pdf">https://www.icc-cpi.int/sites/default/files/Publications/Elements-of-Crimes.pdf</a>

information, confession, punishment, intimidation, coercion, or discrimination), with requirements for protected status under Geneva Conventions for international conflicts<sup>17</sup>.

#### 3.2 Precedential Development and Judicial Interpretation

ICC jurisprudence has contributed to international understanding of torture through several key developments:

- **Purpose Requirements**: The Court has emphasized that torture requires specific purposes, distinguishing it from other severe crimes like inhuman treatment or cruel treatment.
- Official Capacity Requirements: The ICC has interpreted the "official capacity requirement" in various contexts, contributing to understanding of state responsibility for torture. Note distinction: UNCAT (official involvement/acquiescence) and ICC (contextual elements; no public-official prerequisite)
- **Contextual Elements**: The Court's analysis of torture within the context of crimes against humanity and war crimes has established important precedents for understanding systematic and widespread torture.

#### 3.3 UNCAT distinction

UNCAT<sup>18</sup> Art. 1 requires public-official involvement or acquiescence (or someone acting in an official capacity) and a purpose (e.g., coercion, punishment, discrimination). ICC Art. 7(1)(f) (crimes against humanity)<sup>19</sup> has no public-official requirement; instead, it requires custody/control, severe pain/suffering, and that the act occur as part of a widespread or systematic attack against civilians. War-crime torture (Art. 8)<sup>20</sup> has its own contextual elements.

#### 4. UN Committee Against Torture: Authoritative Jurisprudence

#### 4.1 General Comments and Interpretive Authority

The UN Committee Against Torture (CAT) serves as the authoritative interpreter of the Convention Against Torture and has developed comprehensive jurisprudence through General Comments<sup>21</sup>, Concluding Observations<sup>22</sup>, and individual communications<sup>23</sup>.

General Comment No. 2 establishes fundamental principles:

- The prohibition against torture is absolute and non-derogable, constituting a *jus cogens* norm of customary international law
- No exceptional circumstances whatsoever may justify torture, including war, internal political
  instability, public emergency, terrorist threats, violent crime, or armed conflict

 $<sup>^{17} \</sup>underline{\text{https://www.icrc.org/sites/default/files/external/doc/en/assets/files/publications/icrc-002-0173.pdf}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment arts. 2(2), 15, Dec. 10, 1984, 1465 U.N.T.S. 85 (UNCAT).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> https://ihl-databases.icrc.org/en/ihl-treaties/icc-statute-1998/article-7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> https://www.icrc.org/en/document/statute-international-criminal-court-article-8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Committee Against Torture, General Comment No. 2, CAT/C/GC/2 (Jan. 24, 2008), ¶¶ 1, 3–5, 24, https://www.ohchr.org/en/documents/general-comments-and-recommendations/general-comment-no-2-implementation-article-2-states

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> CAT/C/USA/CO/3-5: Concluding observations on the combined third to fifth periodic reports of the United States of America -

 $<sup>- \</sup>underline{https://www.ohchr.org/en/documents/concluding-observations/catcusaco3-5-concluding-observations-combined-third-fifth}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> https://www.ohchr.org/en/treaty-bodies/cat

- States bear responsibility for acts by officials, agents, private contractors, and others acting under state direction or control
- Due diligence obligations extend to preventing torture by non-state actors

#### **4.2 State Obligations in Judicial Contexts**

The Committee has identified comprehensive state obligations specifically relevant to judicial contexts<sup>24,25,26</sup>:

- Criminalization Requirements: States must criminalize torture as a separate offense under national
  criminal law, ensuring definitions conform to Article 1 UNCAT, with penalties commensurate with the
  crime's gravity.
- **Procedural Safeguards**: The Committee requires states to implement:
  - Official registers of detainees
  - Rights information for detained persons
  - Prompt access to independent legal assistance
  - o Independent medical assistance
  - Contact with relatives
  - o Impartial inspection mechanisms for detention places
  - o Judicial and other remedies for examining complaints and challenging detention
- Exclusionary Rule: UNCAT Article 15<sup>27</sup> prohibits using torture-obtained statements as evidence in any proceedings, except against alleged torturers as evidence the statement was made under torture.

#### 4.3 Jurisprudence on Judicial Torture

The Committee's concluding observations reveal systematic concerns about judicial torture across multiple jurisdictions:

• **Common Violations**: The Committee consistently identifies failures in judicial oversight, inadequate investigation of torture allegations, reliance on confession-based prosecutions, and insufficient procedural safeguards during detention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Committee against Torture, General Comment No. 2: Implementation of article 2 by States parties, CAT/C/GC/2 (24 Jan. 2008) — defines State duties that include judicial action and access to judicial remedies: "Article 2, paragraph 1 obliges each State party to take actions... through legislative, administrative, judicial, or other actions..." --

https://hrlibrary.umn.edu/cat/general\_comments/cat-gencom2.html -- "Such guarantees include... the availability... of judicial and other remedies that will allow [complaints] to be promptly and impartially examined..." -- "Article... 15 (prohibiting confessions extorted by torture being admitted in evidence, except against the torturer)..." (exclusionary rule for courts)

25 Committee against Torture, General Comment No. 3 (2012) on the implementation of article 14 by States parties,

CAT/C/GC/3 (13 Dec. 2012) — requires access to a judicial remedy and enforceable compensation/rehabilitation: "Each State party is required to ensure in its legal system that the victim of an act of torture obtains redress and has an enforceable right to fair and adequate compensation, including... rehabilitation." --

https://hrlibrary.umn.edu/cat/general\_comments/cat\_gen\_com3.html -- (GC 3 further clarifies that domestic law must allow individuals to exercise this right and ensure access to a judicial remedy)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> See also Convention against Torture, Article 15 — primary treaty rule for courts (inadmissibility of torture-tainted evidence): "Each State Party shall ensure that any statement which is established to have been made as a result of torture shall not be invoked as evidence in any proceedings, except against a person accused of torture..." (Art. 15)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/convention-against-torture-and-other-cruel-inhuman-or-degrading

 Remedial Measures: The Committee regularly recommends strengthening judicial independence, implementing video recording of interrogations, ensuring prompt medical examinations, and establishing independent oversight mechanisms.

## 5. Comparative National Implementation of UNCAT in Judicial Contexts

#### **5.1 Common Law African Systems**

Research on common law African jurisdictions reveals significant variations in UNCAT implementation within judicial systems<sup>28</sup>:

#### • Legislative Frameworks:

- Kenya, Nigeria, South Africa, and Uganda have enacted standalone anti-torture laws with definitions largely aligned with UNCAT Article 1
- Ghana and Sudan criminalize torture only in limited contexts (prison officers, evidence extraction)
- The Gambia and Zimbabwe rely on ordinary criminal offenses rather than specific torture crimes
- **Judicial Safeguards Implementation**: Most reviewed states have incorporated basic procedural safeguards, though implementation gaps persist:
  - o **Registration**: Varying requirements and poor practical compliance
  - Legal Access: Universal provision but practical hindrances including financial barriers
  - Medical Examination: Rights established but independence concerns in some jurisdictions
  - Judicial Oversight: Time limits often exceed international standards, resource constraints affect compliance

#### 5.2 European and North American Systems

**Germany**: The Federal Constitutional Court has recognized international law supremacy in human rights matters. Under Basic Law art. 25<sup>29</sup>, the general rules of international law have supra-statutory rank; the ECHR is applied via statute and constitutional interpretation. German courts integrate international standards in rights adjudication, though recent Article 3 jurisprudence specific to 'judicial torture' is sparse.

**Canada**: The Supreme Court's decision in *Suresh v. Canada* <sup>30</sup> established important precedents regarding the absolute prohibition of torture and non-refoulement principles, though it controversially suggested possible exceptions in extraordinary circumstances. Subsequent practice and international standards treat non-refoulement to torture as effectively absolute.

**United Kingdom**: The House of Lords' decisions in the *Pinochet* cases<sup>31</sup> established groundbreaking precedents on universal jurisdiction for torture, rejecting immunity claims for former heads of state and emphasizing international law supremacy over domestic immunity provisions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Anti-Torture Standards In Common Law Africa: Good Practices and Way Forward, REDRESS (2022) - https://redress.org/storage/2022/04/06.04.2022-CTI-REDRESS-Anti-Torture-Law-Standards-in-Africa Report WEB.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Basic Law for the Federal Republic of Germany art. 25 (Ger.), translation: <a href="https://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/englisch\_gg/englisch\_gg.html#p0135">https://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/englisch\_gg/englisch\_gg.html#p0135</a>

 $<sup>^{30}</sup>$  Suresh v. Canada (Minister of Citizenship & Immigration), 2002 SCC 1, [2002] 1 S.C.R. 3,  $\P\P$  72–78

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> R v. Bow Street Metro. Stipendiary Magistrate, ex parte Pinochet (No. 3) [2000] 1 AC 147 (HL)

#### **5.3 Comparative Judicial Approaches**

**Universal Jurisdiction**: States demonstrate varying approaches to implementing universal jurisdiction over torture:

- **Uganda, Kenya, South Africa**: Comprehensive provisions establishing territorial, nationality, and universal jurisdiction
- Other jurisdictions: Often lack universal jurisdiction provisions, relying on general criminal law
- Accountability Mechanisms: Significant disparities exist in prosecutorial practices:
- Low prosecution rates: Few criminal proceedings under specific anti-torture laws
- **Procedural barriers**: Amnesties, immunities, and statutes of limitation continue to impede accountability
- **Civil vs. criminal remedies**: Civil proceedings more common but fail to establish individual criminal responsibility

## 6. International Court of Justice: Treaty Supremacy and State Obligations

#### 6.1 Advisory Opinions on Treaty Implementation

While the ICJ has not issued specific advisory opinions exclusively on torture prohibition, several <u>contentious</u> cases establish important precedents regarding treaty supremacy and state obligations relevant to torture prevention.

**Avena and Other Mexican Nationals (Mexico v. United States)**<sup>32</sup>: This landmark case establishes critical precedents for treaty supremacy over domestic law:

- **Treaty Obligations**: The Court affirmed that international treaty obligations (Vienna Convention on Consular Relations) take precedence over domestic procedural rules
- Judicial Review Requirements: States must provide "review and reconsideration" by courts of convictions and sentences impaired by treaty violations, with executive clemency alone insufficient
- **Reparation Obligations**: International law requires "reparation in an adequate form" for proven treaty violations<sup>33</sup>, <sup>34</sup>, <sup>35</sup>
- **Domestic enforceability**: Subsequent U.S. jurisprudence (*Medellín v Texas*) addressed domestic enforceability in the absence of implementing legislation; this does not negate the international obligation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Avena and Other Mexican Nationals (Mex. v. U.S.), Judgment, 2004 I.C.J. 12 (Mar. 31)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> "It is a principle of international law that the breach of an engagement involves an obligation to make **reparation in an adequate form**." (Factory at Chorzów (Jurisdiction), PCIJ, 1927.) United Nations Office of Legal Affairs, Article 51, Part 2: Chapter I. General Principles --

https://legal.un.org/legislativeseries/pdfs/chapters/book25/english/book25\_part2\_ch1\_art31.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> The Court consistently applies *Chorzów's* rule on full reparation, e.g. *Ahmadou Sadio Diallo* (Compensation): "reparation must, as far as possible, wipe out all the consequences of the illegal act." (para. 13) -- Affaire Ahmadou Sadio Diallo (RÉPUBLIQUE DE GUINÉE c. RÉPUBLIQUE

DÉMOCRATIQUE DU CONGO), INDEMNISATION DUE PAR LA RÉPUBLIQUE DÉMOCRATIQUE

DU CONGO À LA RÉPUBLIQUE DE GUINÉE, ARRÊT DU 19 JUIN 2012 -- https://api.icj-cij.org/sites/default/files/case-related/103/103-20120619-JUD-01-00-EN.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Certain Activities (Costa Rica v. Nicaragua) — Compensation Judgment (2018), where the Court again grounded its remedial analysis in the Chorzów Factory standard -- <a href="https://www.icj-cij.org/node/105540">https://www.icj-cij.org/node/105540</a>

#### 6.2 Jurisdictional Immunities and jus cogens

**Belgium v. Congo** (Arrest Warrant Case)<sup>36</sup>: While primarily addressing diplomatic immunity, this case touched on universal jurisdiction for torture:

- The Court recognized that certain crimes, including torture, may not benefit from immunity under international law
- However, the Court maintained a restrictive approach to the relationship between immunity and jus cogens prohibitions. The majority reaffirmed full personal immunity of an incumbent foreign minister before foreign national courts—even for alleged international crimes. It underscored that immunity does not equal impunity: prosecution may proceed after the term, by certain international courts, or upon waiver. Separate/dissenting opinions urged a jus cogens-based narrowing, but the Court did not adopt such an exception.
- Separate and dissenting opinions emphasized the fundamental nature of torture prohibition

#### **6.3 Implications for Judicial Torture Prevention**

ICJ jurisprudence establishes several principles directly relevant to judicial torture prevention:

- **Treaty Implementation**: States cannot invoke domestic law, including constitutional provisions or procedural rules, to avoid international treaty obligations regarding torture prevention.
- **Effective Remedies**: The principle that international law requires effective remedies for treaty violations applies directly to torture prevention and victim redress.
- **State Responsibility**: The Court's analysis of state responsibility in various cases supports comprehensive state obligations to prevent, investigate, and punish torture regardless of who commits it.

#### 7. Synthesis and Comparative Analysis

#### 7.1 Convergent Principles Across Jurisdictions

- Absolute Prohibition: All examined international bodies recognize torture prohibition as absolute, non-derogable, and constituting jus cogens. This consistency strengthens the global prohibition and eliminates potential jurisdictional loopholes.
- **State Responsibility**: Comprehensive agreement exists regarding state responsibility for torture committed by officials, agents, or private actors under state control or with state acquiescence. This principle applies across all jurisdictions examined.
- Procedural Safeguards: International consensus supports essential procedural safeguards in judicial contexts: prompt legal access, medical examinations, judicial oversight, and official registration of detention.
- **Exclusionary Rule**: Universal agreement that torture-obtained evidence must be excluded from legal proceedings, though enforcement mechanisms vary significantly. Derivative-evidence and scope vary by jurisdiction.

IAJ-LRV-20250903-002-PUB 9

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> International Court of Justice (*Democratic Republic of the Congo v. Belgium*) Judgment Of 14 February 2002 Mode official de citation: du Congoc. Belgique), arrêt, C.IJ. Recueil 2002, 3p. of the Congo v. Belgium), Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 2002,3p. -- <a href="https://icj-cij.org/case/121">https://icj-cij.org/case/121</a>

#### 7.2 Divergences and Implementation Gaps

**Definitional Variations**: While core elements of torture remain consistent, regional variations exist in purpose requirements, severity thresholds, and distinctions between torture and CIDT.

**Enforcement Mechanisms**: Significant disparities exist in:

- Universal jurisdiction implementation: Some states provide comprehensive frameworks while others lack specific provisions
- Prosecution rates: Criminal accountability remains inconsistently enforced across jurisdictions
- Victim remedies: Access to redress varies substantially, with many jurisdictions lacking comprehensive rehabilitation programs
- Judicial Independence: Variations in judicial independence affect torture prevention effectiveness, with some systems providing stronger protections for judicial decision-making regarding torture allegations.

#### 7.3 Evolution of International Jurisprudence

**Cross-Fertilization**: International bodies increasingly reference each other's jurisprudence, creating more consistent global standards. For example:

- ECtHR adoption of UNCAT definitional elements
- Regional courts' incorporation of UN Special Rapporteur interpretations
- ICC elements influencing regional court definitions<sup>37,38</sup>

**Expanding Scope**: Jurisprudence has evolved to address:

- Gender-based violence: Recognition of rape and sexual violence as torture
- Vulnerable populations: Enhanced protection for children, minorities, and other at-risk groups

https://legal.un.org/ilc/texts/instruments/english/commentaries/7\_7\_2019.pdf -- "Crimes against humanity also have been mentioned in the European Court of Human Rights and the Inter-American Court of Human Rights when evaluating issues such as fair trial rights, ne bis in idem, nullum crimen, and the legality of amnesty provisions." (Report text) -- https://legal.un.org/ilc/reports/2019/english/chp4.pdf

IAJ-LRV-20250903-002-PUB

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Inter-American Court of Human Rights — *Almonacid-Arellano v. Chile*. The Court develops the elements of crimes against humanity and (in the separate opinion) explicitly anchors the definition in the Rome Statute: "Crimes against humanity are currently defined in the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court (Article 7)." (Separate Op., ¶199.) -- <a href="https://www.corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/articulos/seriec\_154\_ing.pdf">https://www.corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/articulos/seriec\_154\_ing.pdf</a> -- See also Judgment ¶¶95–103 (deriving the elements and applying them).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> UN International Law Commission (Crimes against Humanity project): The ILC explains that regional human rights courts (ECHR & IACtHR) have addressed crimes against humanity issues (fair trial, *ne bis in idem, nullum crimen*, amnesties), and it uses Rome Statute Article 7 as the baseline definition for its draft articles: "The definition of 'crime against humanity' in article 7 of the Rome Statute ... is now being used by many States when adopting or amending their national laws. The Commission considered article 7 to be an appropriate basis for defining such crimes...." (Commentary) -- <a href="https://legal.un.org/ilc/texts/instruments/english/commentaries/7">https://legal.un.org/ilc/texts/instruments/english/commentaries/7</a> 7 2019.pdf -- "Crimes against humanity also have been

Non-state actors: Expanded state responsibility for torture by private actors<sup>39,40,41,42,43</sup>

- CAT General Comment No. 2 (2008) expressly affirms State responsibility for private-actor torture/ill-treatment where authorities know or should know and fail to prevent, investigate, prosecute, and punish; treats such failure as "consent or acquiescence." (See esp. ¶18.)
- ICCPR, HRCtee General Comment No. 31 (2004) clarifies States must protect Covenant rights against violations by private persons or entities, exercising due diligence to prevent, punish, investigate, and redress harm. (¶8.)
- <sup>40</sup> European Court of Human Rights (ECtHR) Article 3 positive obligations (leading)
  - A v. United Kingdom (1998) inadequate domestic protection against severe corporal punishment by a step-parent violated Art. 3; establishes positive obligation to protect against private ill-treatment. -- <a href="https://hudoc.echr.coe.int/eng#{%22itemid%22:[%22001-58232%22]}">https://hudoc.echr.coe.int/eng#{%22itemid%22:[%22001-58232%22]}</a>
  - Z and Others v. United Kingdom (GC, 2001) failure to take reasonable measures to protect abused children by private caretakers breached Art. 3. -- <a href="https://hudoc.echr.coe.int/eng#{%22itemid%22:[%22001-59455%22]}">https://hudoc.echr.coe.int/eng#{%22itemid%22:[%22001-59455%22]}</a>
  - *M.C. v. Bulgaria* (2003) rape by private actors; State violated Arts. 3/8 by failing to investigate/prosecute effectively; confirms due-diligence duties. -- <a href="https://interights.org/news/mcvbulgariaamicus.html">https://interights.org/news/mcvbulgariaamicus.html</a>
  - *Šečić v. Croatia* (2007) racist assault by private individuals; Court reiterates Art. 3 imposes duties to prevent and to conduct an effective investigation into private violence. -- <a href="https://hudoc.echr.coe.int/eng#{%22itemid%22:[%22001-80711%22]">https://hudoc.echr.coe.int/eng#{%22itemid%22:[%22001-80711%22]}</a>
  - Kurt v. Austria (GC, 2021) synthesizes general principles on domestic-violence protection duties under Arts. 2/3; confirms robust positive-obligation framework toward non-State abuse. https://hudoc.echr.coe.int/eng#{%22itemid%22:[%22001-210463%22]}
- <sup>41</sup> Inter-American Court of Human Rights (IACtHR) seminal due-diligence line
  - Velásquez Rodríguez v. Honduras (Merits, 1988) foundational rule: States must prevent, investigate, punish, and provide redress; responsibility arises where authorities permit or fail to act regarding private abuses. (See esp. ¶¶172–177.) <a href="https://www.refworld.org/themes/custom/unhcr\_rw/pdf-js/viewer.html?file=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.refworld.org%2Fsites%2Fdefault%2Ffiles%2Flegacy-pdf%2Fen%2F1988-7%2F40279a9e4.pdf">https://www.refworld.org/themes/custom/unhcr\_rw/pdf-js/viewer.html?file=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.refworld.org%2Fsites%2Fdefault%2Ffiles%2Flegacy-pdf%2Fen%2F1988-7%2F40279a9e4.pdf</a>
  - Monica Hakimi, State Bystander Responsibility, The European Journal of International Law Vol. 21 no. 2 (2010)
  - González et al. ("Cotton Field") v. Mexico (2009) systemic femicides/domestic violence; State failed due diligence to
    prevent/protect/investigate private-actor violence; sets out prevention and investigation standards. -https://www.refworld.org/jurisprudence/caselaw/iacrthr/2009/en/107991
- 42 African human-rights system

  - African Commission General Comment No. 4 on Article 5 (2017) codifies the right to redress for torture/ill-treatment and recognizes State duties toward harms by private persons, consistent with CAT GC2/HRC GC31. --https://www.refworld.org/jurisprudence/caselaw/iacrthr/2009/en/107991
- <sup>43</sup> Cross-cutting public international law (attribution & prevention)
  - ILC Articles on State Responsibility (2001) Art. 8 (direction/control) & due-diligence paradigm (commentary) frame when private conduct is attributable or when omissions incur responsibility. Frequently judicially noticed. -- <a href="https://legal.un.org/ilc/texts/instruments/english/draft\_articles/9\_6\_2001.pdf">https://legal.un.org/ilc/texts/instruments/english/draft\_articles/9\_6\_2001.pdf</a> -- "Responsibility of States for Intentionally Wrongful Acts"
  - *ICJ, Bosnia Genocide* (2007) though on genocide, the Court articulates a robust due-diligence duty to prevent serious harms by non-State actors, often cited by regional bodies when describing State prevention obligations. (See e.g., ¶431.) <a href="https://www.icj-cij.org/node/103164">https://www.icj-cij.org/node/103164</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> UN treaty law & general comments (binding on parties; highly persuasive globally):

#### 8. Critical Gaps and Challenges

#### **8.1 Implementation Deficiencies**

**Resource Constraints**: Many jurisdictions lack adequate resources for:

- Training judicial personnel on international standards
- Implementing comprehensive monitoring systems
- Providing adequate legal aid and medical services
- Maintaining proper detention facilities
- Institutional Capacity: Weak institutional frameworks in many jurisdictions undermine:
  - o Independent investigation mechanisms
  - o Effective prosecution systems
  - Comprehensive victim support services
  - Monitoring and oversight capabilities

#### 8.2 Accountability Gaps

Impunity Persistence: Despite comprehensive legal frameworks, accountability gaps persist:

- Low prosecution rates: Few successful prosecutions under anti-torture laws
- Procedural barriers: Continuing obstacles including immunities, amnesties, and limitation periods
- Political interference: Executive interference in judicial processes undermines independence

**Remedial Inadequacies**: Victim redress remains inadequate in many jurisdictions:

- Limited compensation: Insufficient financial resources for victim compensation
- Rehabilitation gaps: Lack of comprehensive rehabilitation services
- Enforcement problems: Difficulty enforcing judicial awards and compensation orders

#### 8.3 Systemic Challenges

**Confession-Based Systems:** Many legal systems continue to rely heavily on confessions, creating incentives for coercive interrogation despite legal prohibitions.

**Training Deficiencies**: Inadequate training for judicial personnel on:

- International torture standards
- Investigation techniques that avoid coercion
- Medical assessment of torture allegations
- Trauma-informed approaches to victim testimony

## 9. Recommendations for Strengthening International Frameworks

#### 9.1 Enhanced Harmonization

Standardized Definitions: Greater harmonization of torture definitions across international and regional instruments would strengthen global prohibition and reduce jurisdictional confusion.

Procedural Standards: Development of minimum international standards for judicial procedures in torture-related cases, including investigation protocols, victim protection measures, and evidence evaluation standards.

#### 9.2 Capacity Building

Judicial Training Programs: Comprehensive international programs for training judicial personnel on torture prevention, investigation, and victim protection, incorporating best practices from multiple jurisdictions.

Technical Assistance: Enhanced technical assistance for developing effective institutional frameworks, including independent oversight mechanisms, prosecution systems, and victim support services.

#### 9.3 Accountability Mechanisms

Universal Jurisdiction: Strengthened universal jurisdiction frameworks through model legislation and international cooperation mechanisms to ensure no safe havens for torture perpetrators.

Monitoring and Reporting: Enhanced monitoring systems including mandatory reporting on torture prosecution rates, conviction outcomes, and victim redress implementation.

#### 10. Conclusion

This analysis reveals a robust international legal framework prohibiting torture and establishing state obligations for prevention, investigation, prosecution, and redress. The UNCAT provides for evolving standards. International courts, treaty monitoring bodies, and regional systems have developed sophisticated jurisprudence that collectively strengthens the global prohibition against torture as a fundamental principle of international law.

However, significant implementation gaps persist, particularly in judicial contexts where torture prevention is most critical. While the legal framework is comprehensive, enforcement mechanisms remain inconsistent, accountability rates low, and victim redress inadequate across many jurisdictions.

The convergence of international jurisprudence around core principles—absolute prohibition, comprehensive state responsibility, essential procedural safeguards, and exclusionary rules—provides a strong foundation for strengthening torture prevention. The cross-fertilization of legal principles across international, regional, and domestic systems demonstrates the dynamic evolution of international human rights law.

Nevertheless, the persistent gaps between normative frameworks and practical implementation highlight the need for sustained efforts to strengthen institutional capacity, enhance judicial independence, improve training programs, and develop more effective accountability mechanisms. The international community

must address these implementation challenges to fulfill the promise of the absolute prohibition against torture enshrined in international law.

The analysis demonstrates that while international precedents provide clear guidance on preventing judicial torture and CIDT, translating these precedents into effective domestic protection remains an ongoing challenge requiring continued international cooperation, capacity building, and political commitment to human rights principles.

###